IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

BRENDA L. MULLEN

APPELLANT

VS.

CASE NO. 2010-CA-00058

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Whether The Trial Court's *Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law* and *Judgment* Constitute Reversible Error, Where The Trial Court Adopted Substantially Verbatim Findings and Conclusions Submitted by Farm Bureau, Did Not Resolve Disputed Issues of Fact in Favor of Plaintiff; and Construed Facts in Favor of Farm Bureau, the Summary Judgment Movant?
- 2. Whether The Trial Court's *Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law* and *Judgment* Constitute Reversible Error, Where The Trial Court Based Its Rulings On Erroneous Findings of Fact?
- 3. Whether The Trial Court's *Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law* and *Judgment* Constitute Reversible Error, Where The Plaintiff Presented Appropriate Summary Judgment Evidence Demonstrating The Existence of Numerous, Disputed Issues of Material Fact?
- 4. Whether The Trial Court's *Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law* and *Judgment* Constitute Reversible Error, Where the Plaintiff Presented Appropriate Summary Judgment Evidence Demonstrating Plaintiff Complied With Her Obligations Under the Insurance Policy?
- 5. Whether The Trial Court's *Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law* and *Judgment* Constitute Reversible Error, Where the Trial Court Considered, and Based its Rulings Upon, Improper Summary Judgment Evidence Proffered By Farm Bureau and Timely Objected to by the Plaintiff?
- 6. Whether The Issue Of Whether Farm Bureau's Requests For A Statement Under Oath And That Plaintiff Locate, Gather and Produce Voluminous Financial Records Were "Reasonable", As Required By The Policy, Presented A Question of Fact That Must Be Resolved By A Jury In This Cause?
- 7. Whether Farm Bureau's Failure To Pay The Plaintiff's Claim Within 60 Days Of Plaintiff Supplying The Sworn Statement Proof Of Loss Requested By Farm Bureau, As Required By

the Policy, Presented A Question of Fact That Must Be Resolved By A Jury In This Cause?

;

ι

÷

:

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

BRENDA L. MULLEN

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

VS.

CASE NO. 2010-CA-00058

MISSISSIPPI FARM BUREAU CAS. INS. CO.

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT – ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Appellant, Brenda L. Mullen, Plaintiff in the Trial Court proceeding ("Plaintiff"), appeals from the *Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law* (RE 5-22; R 799-816) and *Mississippi Farm Bureau Casualty Company's Proposed Judgment* (RE 23; R 817) entered by the Circuit Court of Tippah County, Mississippi, and requests this Honorable Court Strike, Reverse, and Remand all of the findings, conclusions, orders and judgments therein, and Order all costs be awarded to the Plaintiff.

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Procedural History in Trial Court

On November 10, 2008, Plaintiff filed a Complaint against Farm Bureau for breach of contract and bad faith breach of contract, arising from Farm Bureau's wrongful denial of Plaintiff's insurance claim on a house fire that occurred on March 31, 2008. R 1-13 Farm Bureau Answered on December 19, 2008, and also filed a Counter Claim for Declaratory Judgment. R 18-74 In its 2nd and 4th Affirmative Defenses, Farm Bureau alleged Plaintiff acted in bad faith and/or breached its duty of good faith with regard to the underlying fire loss and insurance claim. R 25 In its 9th and 10th Affirmative Defenses, Farm Bureau affirmatively pled Plaintiff violated Section 1 – Conditions, Paragraph 2 and its subparagraphs titled "Your Duties After Loss" of a dwelling policy, and that Plaintiff's claims were barred by alleged failure to fulfill the (cooperation) requirements set forth in her policy. R 26

In its Counter Claim, Farm Bureau admitted it issued a dwelling policy covering the Plaintiff's secondary home at 540 County Road, Falkner, Tippah County, Mississippi; and that the policy was in effect at the time the dwelling and its contents were damaged by fire on March 31, 2008. R 32 Plaintiff filed an Answer to Farm Bureau's Counter Claim for Declaratory Judgment on January 22, 2009. R 75-80

Plaintiff served her First Set of Interrogatories, Requests for Production of Documents, and Requests for Admission on January 20, 2009. R 116-125 Farm Bureau served its First Set of Interrogatories, Requests for Production and Requests for Admission on or about January 29, 2009. R 126-127 Farm Bureau filed a Motion for Protective Order on February 23, 2009, alleging Plaintiff's interrogatories and requests for production exceeded the permissible number. Farm Bureau filed the subject Motion for Summary Judgment on May 4, 2009, and a Motion to Compel on May 12, 2009.

Undersigned Counsel for Plaintiff entered his appearance on April 29, 2009. R 165-167. Pursuant to agreement of Counsel, the Trial Court entered an Agreed Order resolving Farm Bureau's Motions for Protective Order and to Compel, and granting Plaintiff time to respond to Farm Bureau's Motion for Summary Judgment. (R 266-267) In compliance therewith, Plaintiff served revised discovery requests on Farm Bureau on May 18, 2009 (264-265), and Responses to Farm Bureau's Interrogatories and Requests for Production on May 29, 2009 (R 268-269); Farm Bureau served responses to Plaintiff's Interrogatories and Requests for Production on or about June 5, 2009 (R 270-272); and Plaintiff served her Response and Memorandum in Opposition to Farm Bureau's Motion for Summary Judgment on June 11, 2009. R 482-628

On June 8, 2009, Farm Bureau filed its Second Motion for Protective Order, alleging Plaintiff's Interrogatories and Requests for Production sought "irrelevant" information. R 273481 Therein, Farm Bureau admitted "it has not been alleged by Farm Bureau that Plaintiff, or someone acting on behalf of the Plaintiff, intentionally burned the dwelling at issue." R 274, ¶ 5 Plaintiff filed her Response in Opposition to Farm Bureau's Motion for Protective Order on June 15, 2009. R 629-756

Farm Bureau filed its Rebuttal re: Motion for Summary Judgment on June 24, 2009. R 761-780. Farm Bureau alleged it requested an examination under oath of the Plaintiff on May 29, 2008, "following the determination that the cause of the fire was intentional in nature." R 762, ¶ A Although Farm Bureau appeared to acknowledge the necessity of evidence the fire was suspicious and/or intentional to make a request for a *third* statement reasonable, Farm Bureau failed to present <u>any</u> evidence in support of its allegations that the circumstances of the fire were "suspicious" or intentional in either its Motion for Summary Judgment or Rebuttal.

The Trial Court heard oral argument on Farm Bureau's Motion for Summary Judgment on October 14, 2009. T 1-47 At the conclusion of the Hearing, the Trial Judge stayed discovery, held Farm Bureau's Second Motion for Protective Order in abeyance, and took Farm Bureau's Motion for Summary Judgment under advisement. The Trial Judge requested both parties supply the Court with proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law. T 45-46 *Farm Bureau's Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law*, and *Farm Bureau's Proposed Judgment*, were sent to the Trial Judge on or about November 13, 2009. R 1311-1331 *Plaintiff's Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law* were sent to the Trial Judge on November 16, 2009. R 1286-1310

The Trial Court entered Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, which are virtually identical to Farm Bureau's [18 page] Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, on December 8, 2009. RE 5-22; R 799-816 (Compare with R 1311-1331) The only differences

between the Trial Court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Farm Bureau's Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law are that the Trial Court:

a. Removed "Farm Bureau's Proposed" from title. (compare RE 5 with R 1814);

b. On page 3, first full paragraph, <u>deleted</u> "brief, unsworn" from Farm Bureau's proposed finding that "On April 3, 2008, Brenda and Gene Mullen gave **brief**, unsworn recorded statements to a Farm Bureau Adjuster. (Compare RE 7 with R 1316);

c. On page 3, last sentence of second full paragraph, deleted "Finally" from Farm Bureau's proposed finding that "Finally, on April 8, she submitted a list of the personal property" (Compare RE 7, R 801 with R 1316);

d. On page 13, first full paragraph, changed "determined" to "was convinced", and "was" to "to be" from Farm Bureau's proposed finding that "Farm Bureau's request was subsequently met with a response from Mrs. Mullen's counsel that no such examination and production would be had unless her counsel **determined [was convinced]** it **was [to be]** reasonable." (Compare RE 77, R 8011 with R 1326);

e. On page 13, first full paragraph, deleted "conspicuously" and "whatsoever" from Farm Bureau's proposed finding that "**Conspicuously**, the subsequent correspondence by Mrs. Mullen's counsel to Farm Bureau's counsel contains no change of position and no offer **whatsoever** for her to submit to an examination under oath or produce the requested financial records." (Compare RE 77, R 8011 with R 1326);

f. On page 17, near the end of first full paragraph, deleted all of the **bolded** language from Farm Bureau's proposed finding that:

As a matter of law, the request for an examination under oath in the circumstances of this case was reasonable, *Gates*, 740 F.Supp at 1241 and there is no ironclad requirement under the policy or Mississippi law that Farm Bureau's investigation be completed within 60 days. Having completely declined to comply with Farm Bureau's request for an examination under oath and production of Financial Records, Mrs. Mullen cannot complain that Farm Bureau did not ask sooner so that she could decline sooner. As a matter of law, based on the uncontradicted facts of record, the Court rejects Plaintiff's argument that Farm Bureau breached the loss payment provisions of the policy.

(Compare RE 21, R 815 with R 1330-1331).

The Trial Court also executed and entered without making any changes the *Mississippi Farm Bureau Casualty Insurance Company's Proposed Judgment* previously submitted by Farm Bureau on December 8, 2009, GRANTING Farm Bureau's Motion for Summary Judgment and Farm Bureau's Counter Claim for Declaratory Judgment, Dismissing Plaintiff's Complaint with prejudice, and taxing all costs to the Plaintiff. RE 23; R 817 Plaintiff filed her Notice of Appeal on January 5, 2010, perfecting appeal of all of the Trial Court's findings, rulings and judgments. R 818-819. Plaintiff fully complied with the other requirements for perfecting this appeal.

B. Statement of the Facts

1. March 31, 2008: Date of the Fire

Plaintiff suffered a fire loss at her secondary home, 540 County Road 320, Falkner, Mississippi, on March 31, 2008. RE 24, 37-38; R 496, 498-499 At the time of the loss, the dwelling was insured under a Comprehensive Dwelling Package Policy of insurance issued by Farm Bureau, Policy Number DP-C19148, which was in full force with all premiums paid in full. R 32, 177-213 The only "named insured" is the Plaintiff, Brenda Mullen. R 178

The fire was responded to and investigated by the Falkner Volunteer Fire Department. Fire Chief Petie Rutherford completed and signed an investigative report, dated March 31, 2008, which concluded the "suspected cause" was "heat and air unit shorted out"; and which asserted the Fire Department was dispatched at 8:21 a.m., and returned at 9:41 a.m. RE 24; R 496

Plaintiff promptly put Farm Bureau on Notice of her claim, and provided Farm Bureau

with a copy of Chief Rutherford's March 31, 2008 Report. RE 24; R 625, 496, 1097 The "Original Loss Notice" in Farm Bureau's Claim File reveals the loss was reported through Farm Bureau Agent John Rush on April 1, 2008, at 9:29 a.m. RE 25; R 963 The next entry in Farm Bureau's claim file reveals the claim was assigned to adjuster Delia Essary, and notes the fire was "due to heating/air unit shorting out." RE 26; R 964 In another Claim File entry on April 1, 2008, titled "Dwelling Package Claim Sticker", Delia documented the total amount of insurance potentially available to respond to the Plaintiff's claim is \$97,200. RE 26-27; R 964-965

The subject policy of insurance provides, in pertinent part:

SECTION 1 – CONDITIONS

2. Your Duties After Loss. In the case of a loss to covered property, you must see that the following are done:

f. As often as we *reasonably* require:

- (1) Show the damaged property;
- (2) Provide us with records and documents we request and permit us to make copies; and
- (3) Submit to examination under oath, while not in the presence of any other "insured", and sign the same.

(emphasis added). RE 28-29; R 197-198

2. April 3, 2008: First Statements Under Oath, and Plaintiff's Execution of All Releases and Provision of All Information Requested by Farm Bureau

On April 3, 2008, Plaintiff voluntarily provided Farm Bureau with a statement, wherein she answered all of the questions asked by Farm Bureau's representative. RE 30-36; R 509-515 Corey Wilburn conducted the statement on behalf of Farm Bureau (RE 30; R 509) and, in response to his questions, Plaintiff identified the mortgage company on the insured dwelling and identified the mortgage company on her primary residence (RE 31; R 510). Plaintiff explained the Fire Department advised the fire started near the heating unit / furnace, in the hallway (RE 34; R 513), and that, at the time the Fire Department called her husband (Gene) to give notice of the fire, her husband was in the shower at their primary residence, and she was at medical rehab

after recent heart surgery. RE 35; R 514 Plaintiff confirmed she had nothing to do with the fire. RE 35; R 514 In her sworn response to Interrogatories, **Plaintiff swears this statement was given under oath**; that she gave him all of the information he requested; that Mr. Wilburn did not request any further information at the end of the meeting; and that, after Wilburn turned the tape recorder off, he told Plaintiff he did not expect there would be any problems with resolving her claim. RE 115-117, R 617-622; RE 121-123, R 1096-1098; R 1107

Plaintiff also executed a <u>sworn and notarized</u> Sworn Statement Proof of Loss, on a form provided by Farm Bureau, where she set forth the amount of the claim and swore:

This loss did not originate by any intentional act, design, or procurement on my/our part or by anyone insured by this policy. I/We have not done or consented to anything that would violate the conditions of this policy....

The Sworn Statement Proof of Loss was provided to and initialed by Farm Bureau Adjuster Corey Wilburn on April 3, 2008. RE 37-38; R 498-499 The policy has a provision that required Farm Bureau to pay the Plaintiff's claim within 60 days from receiving her sworn proof of loss. RE 49; R 199

On April 3, 2008, Plaintiff also executed a "Release of Financial Information", on a form provided by Farm Bureau, wherein she provided her social security number and gave Farm Bureau full and complete access to all financial information held by

... any bank, savings institution, mortgage company, credit reporting service, federal or state governmental agency or department, creditor, supplier, insurance company, gaming institution or other financial institutions of whatever kind or nature.

The executed *Release* gave Farm Bureau the right to gather and receive from all types of <u>financial institutions</u> "copies of any and all financial information in the possession of" said entities and/or their employees; and to have *ex parte* communications with all of the entities referenced regarding any and all financial information of the Plaintiff. The Release was

provided to and initialed by Farm Bureau Adjuster Corey Wilburn on April 3, 2008 RE 39; R, 497 On April 3, 2008, Plaintiff also executed an *Authorization to Enter Premises and To Take Samples*, giving Farm Bureau unfettered access to the burned dwelling; and a *Non Waiver Agreement*. RE 40; R, 500; R 966

On April 3, 2008, Plaintiff's Husband (who is not an "insured") also voluntarily provided Farm Bureau with a statement, wherein he answered all of the questions asked by Farm Bureau's representative. RE 41-48; R 501-508 During the interrogation, conducted by Corey Wilburn (RE 41; R 501), Mr. Mullen identified the mortgage company on the insured dwelling, and the balance owed on the mortgage (RE 43; R 503);¹ identified the mortgage company on the Mullens' primary home RE 43; R 503; confirmed the electricity in the insured home was always on, and that the home had a central electric heating system RE 44; R 504; explained the Fire Department advised him the fire started in the hall, by the central heating unit, and revealed that the electric heating unit was approximately 16 years old. RE 46; R 506 Mr. Mullen affirmed that he had nothing to do with the fire. RE 48; R 508

A diagram of the insured dwelling, which Farm Bureau titled a "<u>Total</u> Fire Loss", was received by Farm Bureau's Tupelo Claims office on April 4, 2008. RE 50; R 970 An entry by "District 9 Claims" in Farm Bureau's Claim file, dated March 31, 2008, concludes the subject loss was a "<u>Total</u> Fire Loss due to fire", and that the cause of the "Total Loss" was "Fire due to heating/air unit shortin". RE 51; R 516 On April 8, 2009, Plaintiff provided Farm Bureau with an executed list of personal property destroyed in the fire, noting there was not much left in the secondary dwelling, and provided Farm Bureau with a written instruction to "handle as you want

¹ Personal information such as social security numbers, loan balances, monthly expenses and the like was redacted from the alleged transcripts produced with Plaintiff's Response in Opposition to Summary Judgment to protect this personal, confidential information from the public domain.

on contents". RE 52-53; R 517-518

3. April 17, 2008: Date of Second Statements Under Oath

Sometime after she met with Corey Wilburn, a man from Grenada who identified himself as Dennis Welch called Plaintiff, told her he was a special investigator for Farm Bureau, and that he needed to meet with Plaintiff and her husband to take a statement under oath. Pursuant to Welch's request, Plaintiff and her husband drove to Corinth and gave statements under oath on April 17, 2008. RE 115-117, R 617-628; RE 122-123, R 1097-1098; R 1107, RE 54-85; R 519-550. In her response to Interrogatories, Plaintiff swears she was required to give this statement outside the presence of her husband, and that it was given under oath. RE 115-117, R 617-628; RE 122-123, R 1097-1098; R 1107 In response to Welch's interrogation (RE 54; R 519), Plaintiff provided the Farm Bureau representative all of the information he requested:

a. Provided birth date, social security number; home phone number, and the name of the Mullens' dirt moving business RE 54-55; R 519-520;

b. Identified mortgage company and amount of monthly mortgage payment on the insured dwelling, confirmed mortgage was current at the time of the fire, provided approximate date the monthly mortgage payment was due (the 12^{th}), and confirmed the March 12, 2008 payment had been made but that the April 12, 2008 payment had not yet been made [as of this 4/17/08 statement]. Also volunteered the balance of the mortgage on the primary residence and confirmed there was no secondary mortgage. RE 58; R 523 Also provided amount of monthly mortgage payment at her primary residence, and confirmed that figure included escrow for taxes and insurance RE 82; R 547;

c. Confirmed she found out about the fire when she returned home after rehab (for heart surgery), that she did not take her cell phone with her to rehab, that her daughter drove her to rehab the morning of the fire, that she was not at the insured dwelling during that time, and that the dwelling was usually locked RE 60-62; R 525-527;

d. Confirmed may have had wasp spray in dwelling, that they had a Coleman lantern, and at one time kept cans of Coleman lantern fuel at the home, and that cans of fuel may have been there at the time of the fire RE 63, 64; R 528, 529;

e. Confirmed dwelling was not for sale, but that people had offered to buy the home from time to time; and provided amount of money dwelling appraised for a couple of years prior to the fire RE 66-67, 72; R 531-532, 537;

f. Identified a previous fire loss on a different dwelling about 14 years previously, and that State Farm paid the claim; and explained State Farm canceled her insurance after paying the claim, noting "but they say they are bad about that if you have any kind of claim they're gonna cancel you out" RE 68-69, 72; R 533-534, 537;

g. Confirmed a prior Farm Bureau claim involving a stolen Dodge truck that was never recovered RE 70-71; R 535-536;

h. Revealed she is bookkeeper for household and A&D Dirt Movers, identified the bank where her checking account (personal and business) is kept, and confirmed she has no savings account RE 72; R 537;

i. Identified financed vehicles, the institution with which each is financed, how many car payments are due each month, the loan balance on each, and even identified the finance company for the vehicle of her 30 years old live at home daughter. Also identified a financed camper, and provided the balance owed and the monthly payment amount RE 72-75; R 537-540;

j. Identified all credit cards possessed, provided the balance due on each, and confirmed she usually pays the monthly balance in full; and confirmed there are no other loans at the bank RE 75-76; R 540-541;

k. Confirmed there is a loan balance to John Deer Credit for heavy equipment used by the business, and provided an estimated balance RE 77; R 542;

1. Confirmed no tax liens against her RE 78; R 543;

m. Identified a lien on the insured dwelling by Gulf Coast Bank, related to a lost automobile title several years back where the financing bank had gone out of business, and explained the circumstances and unenforceability of that lien RE 78-79; R 543-544;

n. Confirmed she had never been in a lawsuit, and confirmed no debts other than those disclosed to the interviewer RE 79-80; R 544-545;

o. Confirmed she recently underwent open heart surgery, and stated belief that hospital had written off the bills related to that treatment. Also supplied the monthly cost of medications RE 80-81; R 545-546;

p. Confirmed A&B Dirt Movers is the only source of income RE 81; R 546;

q. Provided the total amount of monthly bills for utilities and electricity, the amount of money spent monthly on groceries, the amount of money spent annually on clothing, and confirmed no other household expenses than those disclosed to interviewer RE 82-83; R 547-548;

10

r. Confirmed she owns no stocks or bonds RE 83; R 548;

s. Confirmed she has never been arrested for a crime RE 83; R 548;

t. Stated she had no idea what caused the fire RE 83; R 548; and

u. Affirmed her answers were "true and correct" RE 85; R 550.

On April 17, 2008, Plaintiff's Husband also voluntarily gave Farm Bureau another statement. RE 86-112; R 551-577 In her sworn response to Interrogatories, Plaintiff swears that this statement was given under oath. RE 115-117, R 617-628; RE 122-123, R 1097-1098; R 1107 In response to Welch's interrogation (RE 86; R 551), Plaintiff's husband provided the Farm Bureau representative with all of the information he requested:

a. Gave birth date, social security and driver's license number RE 86-87; R 551-552;

b. Confirmed he and Plaintiff moved out of insured house in 2006 RE 88; R 553;

c. Confirmed he has own business, A&B Dirt Movers, that the business is an LLC involved in building subdivisions and moving dirt, and that the business has and utilizes heavy equipment including bulldozers, track hoe, and back hoes RE 88-89; R 553-554;

d. Explained he would never let anyone who smoked stay in the insured secondary dwelling (RE 90; R 555), and explained his daughter would go the house several times a week to clean it; and that his daughter called the dwelling her house. Revealed the house would have been his daughter's house – he expected she would live in it after she got married, so she could stay close to home. RE 94; R 559 Explained the Mullens were <u>not</u> trying to sell the house, but that they had a lot of people ask about it; and that when people would ask him about the house, he would give them an "off the wall price and if they wanted to pay it they could". Revealed that Tommy Wilbanks had inquired about purchasing the house 2 to 3 days before the fire, and provided the figures he gave Mr. Wilbanks as an ["off the wall"] asking price. Confirmed Mr. Wilbanks did not want to buy the house for that price. Explained there were a lot of prospective buyers who would have bought the house if Mr. Mullen would have financed it for them – **but that he was saving the home for his daughter** RE 101-102; R 566-567;

e. Explained one of his employees, Joe Williamson, was living in a camper trailer parked near the carport of insured dwelling at time of fire – but that Williamson left town a couple of days before the fire; and offered to take Mr. Welch to Mr. Williamson if he needed to speak with him RE 90-91; R 555-556;

f. Confirmed he and the Plaintiff lived in the insured dwelling for a number of

years, and provided the name of mortgage company on the insured dwelling, and the <u>small</u> balance owed on the mortgage. Also confirmed the amount of the monthly note on the mortgage, and that the current month's mortgage payment had not yet been made on the home, but that the mortgage was otherwise up to date; and that there was no second mortgage RE 91-92; R 556-557;

g. Confirmed that were not many contents in the insured dwelling, and advised that Farm Bureau could do "whatever they wanted to do" on the contents claim RE 93; R 558;

h. Explained he missed a call on his cell phone while in the shower, called the number back when he got out, and Chief Rutherford told him he put a fire out at the insured dwelling. Explained the Fire Department was gone when he got to the dwelling, that he walked inside and looked around, that it looked like main fire was behind the furnace; and revealed the Master bath and walk in closet were behind the furnace RE 94-95; R 559-560;

i. Described his activities for the 24 hours before the fire RE 96; R 561;

j. Explained Fire Chief told him they had to break into the doors of the home, and that he does not know how the Fire Department discovered the fire RE 99-100; R 564-565;

k. Revealed there would probably have been some charcoal lighter fluid in the house, but that he did not know for certain if there was any there at time, but that there has never been any gasoline or diesel in home. Also confirmed cleaning supplies would likely be in the bathroom; and concluded that he really can't say for certain what flammable materials may have been in the house. RE 100-101; R 565566;

1. Confirmed most everything that was in the house, including the food in the fridge, belonged to the Mullens RE 101; R 566;

m. Explained he and Plaintiff lived in the dwelling for about 12 years RE 103; R 568;

n. Revealed several cars and trucks insured are through Farm Bureau (RE 103; R 568); but explained all of his business insurance was through Steve Brown in Winona, who the interviewer expressed familiarity with, and invited interviewer to talk with Steve Brown about the business if he wanted to. RE 106; R 571;

o. Confirmed he had never been in a lawsuit, and never been canceled by an insurance company that he knows of RE 106; R 571;

p. Confirmed his primary residence is also insured through Farm Bureau, and that Farm Bureau would thus have information related to mortgage on that home RE 106; R 571;

q. Confirmed he never sought personal or business bankruptcy, there are no tax liens against his property, that there are no lawsuits against his business; and that he has never been refused credit or had a mortgage foreclosed RE 107-108; R 572-573;

r. Confirmed Plaintiff had recent open heart surgery, and high blood pressure, and

that he had prostrate cancer. Provided an estimate of the total amount of bills for Plaintiff's open heart surgery, and that they would pay on the bills monthly; and explained (re: Plaintiff's open heart surgery) "we haven't met with [doctors] yet, they said when we got through that, we could work [bills] all out.", volunteering the medical bills are not covered by any insurance. RE 108-109; R 573-574;

s. Explained he does not take a regular check or salary for the business, just writes a check when he needs a little living expense RE 110; R 575;

t. Confirmed he has never been arrested for a crime RE 110; R 575;

u. Confirmed he does not know who would have had a motive to set the fire, and does not know how the fire started RE 110; R 575;

v. Confirmed answers were "true and correct" RE 110; R 575.

In her sworn interrogatory responses, Plaintiff explained another Farm Bureau adjuster,

"Delilah", inspected the insured dwelling on another occasion, however she does not remember

the exact date. "Delilah" told the Plaintiff the damages caused by the fire amounted to a "total

loss" of Plaintiff's dwelling and personal contents insured under the Farm Bureau policy. RE

115-117, R 617-628; RE 122-123, 1097-1098; R 1107

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