# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2010-CA-00058

#### **BRENDA L. MULLEN**

**APPELLANT** 

VERSUS

# MISSISSIPPI FARM BUREAU CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY AND JOHN DOES 1-10

APPELLEE

# ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF TIPPAH COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

# BRIEF FOR APPELLEE MISSISSIPPI FARM BUREAU CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY

#### **ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED**

**SUBMITTED BY:** 

JAMES R. MOORE, JR. (MSB JANET G. ARNOLD (MSB MICHAEL C. GATLING (MSB COPELAND, COOK, TAYLOR & BUSH, P.A. 600 Concourse, Suite 100 1076 Highland Colony Parkway (39157) Post Office Box 6020 Ridgeland, Mississippi 39158 Telephone: 601.856.7200 Facsimile: 601.856.7626

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2010-CA-00058

#### **BRENDA L. MULLEN**

APPELLANT

#### VERSUS

# MISSISSIPPI FARM BUREAU CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY AND JOHN DOES 1-10 APPELLEE

#### CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court and/or Judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

#### Circuit Court Judge:

Honorable Andrew K. Howorth

#### **Parties:**

Brenda L. Mullen, Plaintiff/Appellant

Mississippi Farm Bureau Casualty Insurance Company, Defendant/Appellee

#### Counsel:

Clyde H. Gunn, III; Christopher Van Cleave; W. Corban Gunn; David N. Harris, Jr.; Corban,

Gunn & Van Cleave, PLLC, Biloxi, Mississippi, Counsel for Brenda L. Mullen

A. Norris Hopkins, Jr., Hopkins, Barvie & Hopkins, PLLC, Gulfport, Mississippi, Counsel for Brenda L. Mullen

James R. Moore, Jr.; Janet G. Arnold; Michael C. Gatling, Copeland, Cook, Taylor & Bush,

P.A., Ridgeland, Mississippi, Counsel for Mississippi Farm Bureau Casualty Insurance Company

#### Other:

Gene Mullen, husband of Plaintiff/Appellant

Respectfully submitted this  $3^{4}$  day of March, 2011.

F. Ret

JAMES R. MOORE, JR. (MSB JANET G. ARNOLD (MSB MICHAEL C. GATLING (MSB Counsel of Record for Defendant/Appellee Mississippi Farm Bureau Casualty Insurance Company

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

CERTIFICA	TE OF I	INTERESTED PERSONS i	
TABLE OF	CONTE	NTS iii	
TABLE OF A	AUTHC	DRITIES vi	
STATEMEN	IT OF IS	SSUES 1	
REQUEST F	FOR OR	AL ARGUMENT1	
INTRODUC	TION .		
STATEMEN	IT OF T	THE CASE	
I.	Nature of the Case, Course of Proceedings, and Disposition Below		
II.	Stater	nent of Facts	
	A.	The Mullens' Falkner, Mississippi, House and Access to It	
	B.	The Farm Bureau Dwelling Package Policy Concerning      the Falkner House      6	
	C.	The Fire Loss at the Falkner House7	
	D.	Farm Bureau Begins Its Investigation Concerning Brenda Mullen's Fire Loss	
	E.	Farm Bureau Makes Its Request for Financial Records and for an Examination of Mrs. Mullen Under Oath	
	F.	Deaton's Correspondence with Mrs. Mullen's Attorney, Norris Hopkins	
	G.	The Incendiary Origin of the Fire17	
SUMMARY	OF TH	E ARGUMENT	
ARGUMEN	Г		
I	The Standard of Review		

i

II.	Longstanding and Established Mississippi Law Concerning an Insured's Refusal to Provide an Examination Under Oath and/or to Produce Financial Records				
III.	As a By R	The Trial Court Properly Granted Summary Judgment, Concluding As a Matter of Law that Mrs. Mullen Voided Her Policy Coverage By Refusing to Sit for an Exam Under Oath and By Refusing to Produce Requested Financial Records			
	A.	There Is No Genuine Issue of Material Fact As to Whether Mrs. Mullen Refused Farm Bureau's Request that She Sit for an Examination Under Oath and Produce Financial Records			
	B.	There Is No Genuine Issue of Material Fact that Mrs. Mullen's Previous Statements to Farm Bureau Were Merely Unsworn, Recorded Statements Taken by Adjusters			
	C.	There Is No Genuine Issue of Material Fact As to Whether Farm Bureau's Request for a Single Examination Under Oath Was Reasonable			
		<ol> <li>A Long Line of Cases Establishing Mississippi Law Has Treated a Request for One Examination Under Oath Following a Loss as Per Se Reasonable</li></ol>			
		<ol> <li>The Circuit Court Correctly Held that Farm Bureau Was Not Required to Possess or Demonstrate Evidence that the Fire Was Incendiary Before Requesting Financial Records and an Examination Under Oath</li></ol>			
	D.	There Is No Requirement in Mississippi Law that Farm Bureau Demonstrate Prejudice to Justify Denial of a Claim When an Insured Refuses a Request for an Examination Under Oath and for Production of Financial Records			
	E.	Because Farm Bureau Has Not Changed Its Position or Asserted Any Contradictory Positions, Mrs. Mullen's "Mend the Hold" Argument Is Meritless			
	F.	The Circuit Court Correctly Held That Farm Bureau's Policy Does Not Require It to Pay a Claim Within 60 Days Following Submission of a Proof of Loss			

·----

G.	The Circuit Court Judge Did Not Draw Any Contested Inferences from the Facts, But Simply Stated the Uncontradicted Facts as They Were Presented in the Parties' Submissions
CONCLUSION	
CERTIFICATE OF	FILING
CERTIFICATE OF	SERVICE

1

• •

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

# CASES:

\_\_\_\_

.

**,** .

.

Allison v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 543 So. 2d 661         (Miss. 1989)
Archie v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 813 F. Supp. 1208 (S.D. Miss. 1992)
Banker's Life and Cas. Co. v. Crenshaw, 483 So.2d 254 (Miss. 1985) 42-43
Bluewater Logistics, LLC v. Williford, So. 3d, 2011 WL 240731 (Miss. Jan. 27, 2011)
Borne v. Dunlop Tire Corp., Inc., 12 So. 3d 565 (Miss. 2009)
Boston Ins. Co. v. Mars, 246 Miss. 36, 148 So. 2d 718 (1963)
Boteler v. State Farm Cas. Ins. Co., 876 So.2d 1067 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004)
Boyd v. State, 47 So. 3d 121 (Miss. 2010)
Cain v. United States Fire Ins. Co., 2008 WL 2094235 (S.D. Miss. 2008)
Callicut v. Professional Serv. of Potts Camp, Inc., 974 So. 2d 216 (Miss. 2008)
<i>City of Jackson v. Presley</i> , 40 So. 3d 520 (Miss. 2010)
Claflin v. Commonwealth Ins. Co., 110 U.S. 81 (1883) 24, 41
Cook v. State, 990 So. 2d 788 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008) 22-23
Dickey v. State, 662 So. 2d 1106 (Miss. 1995)
Employers Mut. Cas. Co. v. Ainsworth, 164 So.2d 412 (Miss. 1964)
Franklin v. BSL, Inc., 987 So. 2d 1050 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008)
Gates v. State Farm Gen. Ins. Co., 749 F. Supp. 1237 (S.D. Miss. 1990)
Grisham v. John Q. Long V.F.W. Post, 519 So.2d 413 (Miss. 1990)

Hall v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 937 F.2d 210 (5th Cir. 1991)
Harbor Ins. Co. v. Continental Bank Corp., 922 F.2d 357 (7th Cir. 1990)
Holt v. Mississippi Emp. Sec. Comm'n, 724 So. 2d 466 (Miss. 1998)
Home Ins. Co. v. Olmstead, 355 So. 2d 310 (Miss. 1978) 25, 32
Joel v. Joel, 43 So. 3d 424 (Miss. 2010)
Luverne v. Waldrop, 903 So. 2d 745 (Miss. 2005)
Miss. Dept. of Wildlife, Fisheries and Parks v. Brannon, 943 So. 2d 53 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006)
Mississippi Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co. v. Walters, 908 So. 2d 765 (Miss. 2005)
Monticello Ins. Co. v. Mooney, 733 So. 2d 802 (Miss. 1999) 25, 36, 49
Noxubee County Sch. Dist. v. United Nat'l Ins. Co., 883 So. 2d 1159 (Miss. 2004)
Ohio & M.R. Co. v. McCarthy, 96 U.S. 258 (1877)
Pervis v. State Farm Fire and Cas. Co,. 901 F.2d 944 (11th Cir. 1990) 26, 30, 35
<i>Reece v. State Farm Fire &amp; Cas. Co.</i> , 684 F. Supp. 140 (N.D. Miss. 1987)
Robley v. Blue Cross/Blue Shield of Miss., 935 So.2d 990 (Miss. 2006)
Saucier v. United States Fid. & Guar. Co., 765 F. Supp. 334 (S.D. Miss. 1991)
Southern Guar. Ins. Co. v. Dean, 252 Miss. 69, 172 So. 2d 553 (Miss. 1965)
Spears v. Tennessee Farmers Mut. Ins. Co., 300 S.W. 3d 671         (Tenn. Ct. App. 2009)